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Chair: Like all people who have got themselves into situations being a very shy and retiring man in his own nature, and he hates people telling him how courageous that they think he was.  That's what makes it very difficult for me because, although he and I belong to the same organisation, I do look up to Max, and I look up to his exploits, and I love hearing him talk about it so I'm not going to keep that privilege from you any longer.  Max Shean, ladies and gentlemen.

Max Shean:

Thank you Chairman. Ladies and Gentlemen, first of all a couple of opening announcements. Last night at the book launch I mentioned a United States Submarine veteran who married into my family. We knew him only as 'Ski'. Somebody came up to me afterwards and said that he was looking for a person known only as 'Ski', and could I tell him more about it. I went home and told my wife and she, of course, is the source of all wisdom in my household. And she went to her address book and she came back and she said his name is, wait for it: Czatynski - Ski.  So if that person's here, that's who he's asking for.

Now I do have - I've written my talk, and I have got three or four print-outs, so if anybody happens to go to sleep and miss it, you can read all about it afterward. You can of course, buy my book if you want to Corvette and Submarine, although if you live in Western Australia ask at any library, and they've got it. I've got one or two exhibits to show you, and first of all, I'll show you what I'm talking about.  This is the Royal Navy's midget submarine or X-craft.  And that is the first design, I'll be talking about it later on, that's the X5 to 10. There was a later design, an XE1 to 5, and they were very similar, there's just the difference that the casing was more streamlined and it didn't have this break in the casing that this one shows. And there were three antennae on the side, which you hardly noticed because the method of attack was different, which I'll explain later on. And they were about eighteen inches longer than these - these were fifty-two feet, the others were fifty-three foot six, but you wouldn't tell that by looking at them. So just to let you know, that's what I will be talking about to make up for my rather inadequate description. 

One is always searching round for authentic memorabilia. Well you probably all know what that is and I can tell you this is the genuine article - that is a tool as used by a submarine engine room artificer to perform magic on mechanical parts and that is fact. This one has a couple of appendages, and you may notice there's a silver star - I'll give you a clue - there should be forty-nine of them but there's only one. And what that is, is a ‘star bangled spanner’. Now, I'll stop horsing round and get on with the talk. We should be about - I'd better start my time-piece - right we've had one minute for nothing, I should be talking about the small submarines developed by the Royal Navy fairly early in World War II; why they were developed, what they were like, something about the training/recruiting and training of crews for these, a summary of operations, and finally some thoughts of my own. I did give this paper to my son-in-law to proof read and he said,  "change the first sentence", because I had 'Good morning gentlemen', and he said "What evidence is there that submariners were gentlemen?" But I treat you as ladies and gentlemen, and of course it's afternoon because the program's all been changed. If there is time, and the chairman says there is, I will talk as my son-in-law advised, in a little bit more detail about one of the operations.

So to get back to the first part, the purpose of the submarines. When the Royal Navy had sunk Bismarck, early in 1941 I think it was, her sister ship Tirpitz  remained, and she was soon harboured in Kaa Fjord off Alten Fjord, just south of North Cape, at the north of Norway, and there she managed to.- allied shipping everywhere, because she was such a powerful ship.  In particular she was a threat to the convoys going to and from Russia.  And a good deal of attention was paid to Tirpitz  to try and put her out of action, I think about thirty different attacks were made on her.  And these are very well described in a book which I've listed in my bibliography, by Leonce Peillard, a Frenchman, called Sink the Tirpitz , he's researched it very well. I've mentioned a few books in the bibliography of this paper and they're all books that I've found to be very useful in refreshing my memory and learning new facts. So that's where she was, and Winston Churchill summed up the situation in his own words, that the crippling of Tirpitz  was the biggest single event in the war at sea at that time. There were many new weapons conceived, and one of them was the midget submarine, and I'll have a bit to say about the word 'midget' later on; I prefer to call them X-craft. The idea of these was that they could go in, enter enemy harbours, hopefully undetected, and carry enough explosives to do damage to fairly powerful ships. So that outlines the object in developing these submarines. Now description.  

The way they came into being is that two Commanders - Royal Navy, Commander Bell and Commander Varley, built a prototype which was called X3 and from that Admiralty accepted the concept and the Admiralty Construction Division designed the first six operational craft which were X5 to 10, and these are the ones I'll describe, because they were a little bit larger than X3.  And X3  prototype was followed by another prototype, X4, and they were only training class. So I'll talk now about the X5 to 10, and you've just seen a model of one of these. The model, incidentally, is fairly recent, it was made about ten years ago by a sculptor in The Hebrides, and it really is a beautiful model, it's quite accurate, and yet it looks like a work of art; if you look at it closely, it's like a sculpture.

These submarines had a displacement of thirty tons and a range on diesel of 1000 miles.  Because Alten Fjord was about 1000 miles from Scapa, they were to be towed to within 100 miles of the target, slipped to go in independently and carry out their task, and return, and be picked up and towed back home again. And for towing, T-class or S-class submarines were fitted. A little bit more about the submarine itself. They were real submarines, although small, and they were very simple, and probably this was the genius of their design. Frankly, I think they were an incredibly good design, though that wasn't very obvious when you first went to sea in them; they weren't all that comfortable. But they were a good design. They had only three main ballast tanks, which made things very simple, there's one exterior tank forward. The other two were within the pressure hull, one amidships and one fairly well aft. There is a drawing, a sectional drawing on the boards here, and later on, if you're interested, you can have a look. I didn't make a slide of that because there's so much in it, you really can't see it at a glance, you've got to follow it through. That is of the X5 to 10. 

 As well as the three main ballast tanks they had three trimming tanks; one forward, one aft, one amidships, and as the design evolved and the first of the class were used and new ones built, the trimming concept was simplified so that there was only one pump and one valve box and one joy-stick control. The man sitting aft of the control room, who had the job of operating main engine, main motor and the hydroplane - one set of hydroplanes aft, and the trimming control of the submarine, all done by one man. He only had to put one hand on this joystick and if he wanted to pump in he'd push the stick inboard, and the valves would open and the pump would run, and he'd put it back again. If he wanted to pump water from aft to forward, he'd push the stick forward. So it made trimming very simple indeed, all done by one man, because in a big submarine - I suppose these days it's all computerised, but in my day, and I am talking of 1940 technology of course, it took probably three men, or four men, to control the submarine. An officer at the watch, two men on hydroplanes, and one man operating the pumps and valves, or probably more. So this is very simple as indeed they had to be. 

Their navigation equipment was a ten foot periscope, so their design - periscope depth was ten feet, and a short periscope only one foot long, and I'll explain that later on. We had a Chernikeef log for giving distance run and speed through the water, and an echo sounder which could sound down or up, so you could use it to see how deep you were, also, you could use it when you were underneath a target ship, and that brings me to the armament. The regional armament was a side charge, strapped onto the side of the submarine, one port, one starboard, each one with two tons of explosives. And they were detonated by a clock which would run up to six hours. It could be set from within the submarine before releasing the charge. Once the clock was set to run, then the connecting cable would be disconnected. A floating valve would be opened in the charge, because up to then they were neutral buoyancy. The charge would start to fill with water, that is the flotation chambers would, and then the operator would release two catches at the top of the submarine, and the charge would peel off, unhook from a cradle in the bottom, and lay on the sea bed. Before doing this the submarine itself would sit on the seabed, so the charge didn't drop. Now from that moment, the submarine had fifteen minutes of safety. After fifteen minutes, there'd be a restraining device on the detonation switch; while that was restrained the submarine was quite safe, but after fifteen minutes they would counter-mine. So if the X-craft should happen to collide with one of her own charges after fifteen minutes that would all go up. But in this counter-mine, then they would detonate at the prescribed time, usually I think for the Tirpitz operation was set at four hours. Now I'm not sure whether there's much else I should say. We had a gyro compass, a Brown gyro, which was very good, and two repeaters. At diving stations the helmsman was forward in the control room, and his job was steering, and controlling the main vents, and 'kingstons', that is the valve at the bottom of the main ballast tank. Only two of them had them, because the one forward was a free-float tank, had only a hole in the bottom, and a vent at the top. As well as controlling that, the forward watch keeper also controlled the high pressure air to blow through the tanks when surfacing. We also had a quick diving tank, and he would operate the quick diving tank below when we were deep enough.

We did eat in the submarines; not very much, and for food we carried mainly tinned food, 'purser's' beans was the favourite diet, and I still eat, when I'm out in my yacht, I still eat beans. They are an all-sustaining food, very simple, no preparation time needed. If you wanted them hot, we carried a carpenter's glue pot, which is quite a sensible thing because it's a double boiler, there's water in the bottom and a container that you put the beans and everything else into; a hot tin of beans was really our most sophisticated meal. We could make tea and coffee. We did carry a lot of fruit juice and  tinned fruit and so on. And the depot ship always baked a special bread, which took longer to go mouldy than other bread. So we really had plenty to eat. There was one bunk in the control room, which you'd fit in if you took time to thread your legs in between the pumps and pipes, and get your head underneath the chart table. Otherwise, if two people happened to be off watch at once, one could lie down on the battery boards forward. 

As for dealing with the enemy hazards, the first one we could expect to find would be a declared minefield, and possibly a controlled minefield. A declared minefield is what every participant in a war lays or says he lays, and he tells the enemy that that's where it is, and generally they are there. For a minefield laid off the Norwegian coast, you realise that they had to be deep enough so as not to show at low water and if we made our approach at high water, we only drew eight feet because then we had a pretty good chance of riding over the top of the declared minefield. Of course, if you happened to know the swept channel which the enemy's got to get, to get in and out, then that is all to the good too. And the intelligence we had was extremely good.  Norwegians are very courageous people, and there's one chap called Lief Larsen you've probably heard about, he's an absolute legend, and a lot of our intelligence came from him. And he told us where the minefields were, where the swept channels were and so on and what's more they told us - if we did have to abandon ship and walk to Sweden, he told us who to contact, and where, around Norway, for help. And of course this puts these people terribly at risk. And we had to memorise their names and so on, and they were still at risk, because if we were captured, and encouraged to talk, these people of course would be shot. So our briefing was extremely good. 

Now, that is a brief description of the submarine. I'm trying to follow Michael White's excellent presentation of yesterday, where he alternated talk with slides. So I've got to look at my idiot sheet now and see if I'm ready for the first slide, and I'm not quite. A couple more things about the submarine. The diesel we had was a 4LK Gardner which is the popular engine in most buses of the time; it powered most London buses. Now Michael told us yesterday of the experience with two of our submarines, I think it was Otway and Oxley, who had Admiralty designed diesels - apparently had not been long in production. And they had serious troubles with them, with the cylinder mounting bolts. And that's pretty fundamental. In this case, Admiralty had the choice of an engine which was well proven; you can think of the number of buses that have been running around London, and everywhere else in Britain. And the choice of this Gardner 4LK was a really good one, because never at any time did we ever have trouble with any diesel engine, except that caused by ourselves and I'll handle that later on.

When on the surface, as the submarines only had about one foot of freeboard, because getting into the engine required something additional. And there was an induction trunk fixed to the port side of the casing, which would be raised when on the surface, and lowered when dived, it swung back, hinged back. And on that model it is raised. The periscope is also raised. The other device which is raised further aft, is a magnetic compass, which was a backup for the gyro, and had to be raised, of course, to get it outside the steel hull. Because inside the steel hull, the magnetic compass won't work. But by raising it , and then having a projection; if you had very good vision then you could sort of look behind you while you were trying to steer. You could read the magnetic compass, but fortunately we never had to use it in anger. The gyro was very reliable. And we were all given adequate training, which included a week at Brown Gyro Works in Slough, I think it was. And they were very good to us. We found the brown gyro compass a very good compass to work on. In fact, the second time we went back there for a refresher, we learned what they had to tell us in about the first half day, and my crew spent the rest of the day going through the box of bits, and assembling a compass first, from the individual components. And in one day we had it assembled. We asked for power, we ran it, calibrated it, and were able to settle it down. A gyro does take a little while to settle down, because it's got to wait for the earth to rotate a bit. But if you watch it, you can see what it's going to do, and you can anticipate and precess
 it, by putting your finger on it.

These four submarines, being so small, were very lively, and if you happened to hit bottom, which we did pretty frequently, due to bad navigation of course, or bad submarine practice, it would generally start the gyro on a wander. But what you can do is sit on the bottom, stop, watch the gyro, see what the earth's rotation is doing by making it precess, push down one pole or other, bring it back a few degrees, watch it again. And in about fifteen minutes you can settle it down, and off you go again. So, I hope you get the impression that what Admiralty did for us, in telling us about our submarine, was about as thorough as it could possibly be. And I'll come to a comment about that, before the end, unless I miss it out in my notes.

Now, let's see what I've got down here, oh yes. We had some thoughts, being non-submariners, most of us, that if air could come down this pipe when on the surface, perhaps it could come down the pipe when we were dived. So without telling anybody, while we were our exercising, we raised the induction trunk, which was only eight feet long, whereas the periscope was ten. We had to bring it up to eight feet, and a little bit less. And then we opened this induction, and of course the first thing is that a couple of gallons of water come shooting down the pipe into the control room, and it fogs up; you can't see anybody for a while but that settles down, it condenses everywhere, and then you can see what you're doing. Then we started the engine, and the engine was quite happy. It was exhausting under water, which is not the best for an engine, but never mind, it did it, and we got along fairly well. Of course, the man on the hydroplanes, with trim control, has got to be meticulous in keeping depth. Because when he goes down to eight feet and one inch, the top of the pipe is one inch under the water, and that's all it takes, so in comes the ocean. So the man forward has got to shut the inside valve, and the engine is still running so of course the engine's gobbling up the air in the submarine, and your ears are popping, and everybody's glaring at the depth keeper; "get her up so we can get the pipe open again'. But we got fairly good at this after a while, and reported this to our superiors who said, "Desist from this unseaman-like practice". Of course what we'd done was to invent the snorkel. But once the Germans invented it, it became respectable. And the German snorkel, and the early British, and I suppose other snorkels, I don't know, had the refinement that they had one pipe for the air to come down, and another one for the exhaust gasses to go up. We didn't; we exhausted underwater. We were ahead of our time there, because the Collins class submarines are going to do exactly that same thing. So I'm glad that we're leading the field somewhere. But of course their exhaust pressure would be a good deal higher than ours because their periscope depth is more than ten feet. But anyway it did work.

But I admit, it was dangerous to a degree in that we didn't have a float operated top valve whereas the proper snorkels do. So we were taking a risk, but we only did it, in fact, you would only do it I think after an operation, because running the engine with the periscope up is not good. Because the engine causes vibration, and vibration is not good for a periscope.  So we wouldn't do it before we went into an attack, we'd only use it coming out, when the periscope didn't matter quite so much. So that's the snorkel bit. 

We had two batteries that could be connected in series, or parallel. In series we called it 'group up' and you put them in series if you want maximum voltage for maximum speed, which is five knots under water. If you want maximum economy you put the batteries in parallel which we call 'group down' and you get maximum economy, which would give us a range of about eighty miles at two knots. In the British submarines I was in they had shafts in series and shafts in parallel so it works the other way around. But we only had one shaft, so we had to put the batteries in series or parallel. So that's page one...

Now, nets. We got through the declared minefield, and there may be a controlled minefield inside the harbour. And our Intelligence always told us where the ship channel was. It's sometimes associated with a loop - that's cable, or a double loop, across the harbour entrance, which picks up a ship's magnetism. Well our submarines were de-magnetised to a very high degree, both by deperming and then by coils in the keel, which is pretty standard practice for any ship, and submarines in particular, so we reckoned we could get across the loop without being detected. In fact, after all these tests, like a new submarine would go to the Gairloch, Faslane, where they had the degaussing loop, and we'd go in there and get the magnetism knocked out. And then we'd go down to Larges, in the Clyde, and run across the loop there, and we'd be given our signature, and told whether we were good enough or not.

But the nets were another thing. Every harbour, defended harbour, had an anti-submarine net across it; Fremantle did, generally called a boom. And while you hoped that you could get through the gate when the local ships were going through, you shouldn't depend on that. The whole thing of course was very secret. But in case a leak had got out, and the enemy were expecting it, you'd be quite sure that the gate would be kept shut. And so we had to have a way of getting past the net, if the gate was shut. And this is one of the novel features of the X-craft and when I first heard about it I nearly had a fit, as we all did. but when we got used to it, it wasn't really quite so bad. This is the concept of carrying a diver, who would leave the submarine while dived at about thirty feet. The diver would be dressed in a lightweight suit, and he'd be breathing from an oxygen lung, something like the Davis Submarine Escape Apparatus but with a bigger oxygen supply and the Protosorb of course to remove Co2. He had to be got out for the submarine dive.

Now I mentioned No. 2 main ballast tank, which is about amidships, and it was between two complete bulkheads, about three feet apart. There was a circular door through both the bulkheads so you could get from the control room to the battery compartment forward. Also the main hatch was directly above this compartment. Now No. 2 main ballast was really a U-shaped tank. It was below the floor on which one stood, in this compartment, and also the sides of the compartment were part of the No.2 main ballast tank. And the sides of these compartments were such that the capacity of this chamber was less than of the main ballast tank. And the procedure was this: that the submarine making a penetration of the net would enter the net at very slow speed, at about thirty feet depth, which was the best depth for the diver. And having got there, run the motor slow ahead and just keep the submarine nose into the net. 

The diver would get into this compartment, shut the two lower doors, put himself on oxygen - he would do that before he shut the door - put himself on oxygen and shut the door and we would shut the main vent and kingston [valve] as the two, top and bottom valve, and No. 2 main ballast, then open two valves inside that communicated between No 2. main ballast in this chamber. And there's a pump there, and you pushed the pump up. (Now some of the ladies might not be following this, it doesn't matter. Just take it from me that it worked).  The diver, inside this compartment, would feel the water rising and there was one little window in the door to the control room and a glimmer of light would come through that until the water got over it, then he'd be in the dark. And as the water came up it would cover his headpiece. And this, believe me, was the moment of truth, as they say. If you didn't panic at that stage you had a fair chance of making it but it's the most unnatural set of circumstances I've ever experienced. And you do really have to hang on to your self-control. But it's alright. The water goes up. When it gets to the vent running back to the No. 2 main ballast again, you feel the pressure suddenly go bang in your ears. Then you shut off the two valves inside, stop the pump and open a equalising valve in the hatch above. As soon as your ears stop hurting, you know you've got an equal pressure. Then you open the hatch and get out.

Now this is the clever part. When you get out, supposing you weigh fourteen stone - ten stone was my weight - ten stone of water will come in, and you shut the lid, and the submarine's bodily weight has not changed. And that's the clever part.  The diver then would go forward, open a hatch in the casing, and take out a hydraulic cutter, which was supplied with 3000 pound per square inch water, which came from a cylinder inside the submarine, which in turn was energised from the high pressure air system. He'd go forward, have a look at the lay in the net and from here on he was the only one who could tell what the submarine's trim was like, because usually you watch the depth gauge, if you're going deep you're too heavy. But, caught in the net, you can't-that doesn't work. So he would signal to the captain who was now looking through this short periscope, and that's what it was there for, to watch the diver. He'd go through the net, cut a few wires and through the submarine would go. He'd put away his cutter and open the hatch and go down below, and be back in the control room, if all went well, within twelve minutes. That feature, I think, was rather remarkable and it did work. 

So that brings me I think to the first lot of slides - Pat, could we have something?  

This is a heavily camouflaged X-craft, on delivery from Vickers Armstrong's. It couldn't possibly be anything else but an X-craft. It gives you an idea of the size. I've got a picture, one of the last I'll show you, when I'm comparing it with the last Japanese midget submarine. But there it is on a railway truck. This little bump here- there's the periscope guards. The periscope stood about eighteen inches above the deck, and went about eighteen inches of the keel, the whole was about six feet in diameter. So that gave about ten feet to house the periscope. Back after...you can nearly see the rudder and the hydroplanes - just one set of hydroplanes on the centre line aft. Now, I'll show you this as a comparison. I'll be mentioning later on our depot ship HMS Bonaventure.  There she is in Sydney Harbour in September, 1945, after it was all over. 

Admiral Vasey did identify that submarine as a Gadeau class submarine, one, two, three, four of them. They go out of the picture, there's an X-craft there. That's an XE in fact, and there you can see the arms of the watch with his induction trunk partly raised. There is the periscope stand and the periscope guard and there is the night periscope. You can see there's some difference in magnitude between those two classes of submarines. There's three internal pictures here - that's in the control room looking forward. These are the two bulkheads I described and there's the two pressure tight doors that sealed off this chamber here, which is called a wet and dry chamber, otherwise 'W&D'. And that's the diver's exit chamber. Forward are the batteries, and they're the boards over the batteries. This is the steering wheel, that's a gyro repeater. The main depth heavers are there, the fuel tank is right underneath and he's got a pedal to release the air and a whole valve there - you can't see it all. This in fact is the cylinder containing water, which goes to the cutter. The chart table is just to the left of that. 

This is from the same position looking aft. That's the helmsman's wheel, which you just saw, his gyro repeater, and here is the main motor controller, a drum controller, it turns the wheel. It's not very clear but the hydroplane hand wheel is there, with a concentric helm, a steering wheel. That is a wooden bulkhead, the engine is behind that, the gyro compass is there. This is an XE craft which had air-conditioning, which we didn't use; it took too much power, but that's where it is. And the next one is a view in the engine room. That is a Gardner 4LK, (?) 367) to ERA Coles, as my ERA insisted on having a name for the engine, there's a story behind the name, but I haven't got time for that. That's our air compressor, a three stage air compressor, there's the gyro compass again. If you imagine that hole is five foot ten inches in diameter - stick a bus engine in the middle of that, and you've got to get down the side to attend to the main motor and the crutches back there. So any person of my build could get in. There's a starting handle; we could start the engine by hand if we had to, but we never had to.

Well that's the end of that series of slides, so we'll return now to the notes. Crew. The crew were recruited first of all from the Submarine Service. I think three... END OF SIDE A
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....submariner officers were brought in, three lieutenants, quite a few ERA's, in fact all the ERA's were submariners, and a number of stokers  and seamen. And the rest of the crews were recruited from general service by virtue of a signal that Admiralty made for volunteers for special and hazardous service, as they called it. We don't dispute that, particularly going to the WNV. We were all brought, first of all to Dolphin  to go through submarine escape training and after about ten days of that, were despatched by rail to the Clyde where Admiralty had taken over a Hydropathic Hotel on the island of Bute; the Kyles of Bute, Hydropathic Hotel, and took out all the curtains and cupboards - made it look like a barracks, but they staffed it with WRENs, which compensated for that, and that's where we went for our first training. And Lieutenant Hezlet, whose name is a legend in submarine circles, as 'Baldy' Hezlet, gave us our first lectures, and these were really extremely good. We stopped worrying about being in submarines, and having to attack Tirpitz, which scared the daylights out of us, when we first heard what we were there for, and we started taking an interest in what we'd been recruited for. In particular, I was always prone to asking questions if I couldn't understand things, and Vernon Coles, who became my ERA told me, just fairly recently, that at the first series of lectures, his mate sitting next to him, another ERA said "Who's this bloody Australian asking all these questions - Cor' he aint half keen!"

This establishment became known as HMS Varbel, after Commanders Varley and Bell, who built the prototype. And another establishment was taken over at the head of Loch Striven, which was immediately north of Kames Bay where the hotel was located. There was quite a big house there which was commissioned as HMAS Varbel II. And our training went on in that one space or the other, in Kames Bay or in Loch Striven. The crews had to be trained as best they could, because you imagine with four in the operational crew, that is a captain, first lieutenant, who was also the depth keeper, the ERA whose diving station was on the wheel, and the diver, and three in the towing crew, because they reckoned the tow was so arduous that the operational crew couldn't do both. That means seven for every one of the six boats - that's forty-two people at the bare minimum, and of course quite a few spares. And these had to be trained in the two craft, the X3 and the X4.. Well to relieve the burden a bit, two motor launches were fitted with a periscope in their forward cabins and we did all our periscope training from these motor boats. Also a mock control room and W&D, that's a complete replica, was built, and mounted on a catamaran barge at Loch Striven Head, and that's where we did all of our exiting and re-entry. We used to call it 'escape', but I think that's rather a pessimistic word; you're not escaping, you're carrying out your normal duty, nothing unusual about it. You just get out, do your job and get back in again. So I prefer to call it exit and re-entry.

So we did all our training there. And these were really brilliant concepts because it means the two submarines could spend all their time then, training people how to keep depth. And that takes a bit of doing, with no former submarine experience, only one set of hydroplanes, and sort of getting used to just pumping. The original design had two separate pumps, one pumping forward and aft, one in and out. They were mono-pumps and they were underpowered. We had a lot of bother with pumps seizing, but they got over these teething problems before too long and the later designs had only one pump which was adequately powered and the valve box, which made complete use of the one pump, which was very economical and a good, sound engineering concept. Generally I think the engineering in these submarines was marvelous, to think that from nothing, they were built, and went into operation and I won't tell you whether they succeeded, you probably know they did. We'll come to that later on.

In these recruits, I hope you don't mind if I lay a little bit of emphasis on the Australian contingent because, after all, this is something to do with an Australian celebration, we're celebrating Fremantle, and we're trying to get a submarine for our Western Australian Museum. So if you don't mind, while there were many nations there; there was a Canadian, a lot of South Africans, there were even Scotsmen and Welshmen and Irishmen and one was an Englishman. And we got along fine. After a while you forgot who came from where. We did have to watch the Irishmen a bit - they're inclined to be a little bit excitable but...all very good.  There were five Australians in the first intake and one joined later on, so there were six all together and I'll introduce most of them as we come to them.

The original timetable was to attack Tirpitz in March, 1943. It had to be at the equinox, because you need a certain amount of darkness, a certain amount of daylight. In summertime it never gets light up there - in summer it never gets dark, in winter it never gets light. So it had to be March. Well by March we just weren't ready. There were a few setbacks. Training went on apace and their were a few accidents, some minor, two major; we lost two of our trainees, they were drowned. We lost, well we sank two submarines. But all the time we were exercising, there was a diving ship and a boom defence vessel always available in the Clyde somewhere. And on the two occasions when an X-craft sank, the divers were down on it within hours and the boom vessel had it up next day. Because it took a couple of weeks to dry them out, replace the gyro compasses and a few things like that and get them going again. X3  was one that sank that way, which was a severe setback to the training program and X10  also sank, but she got going again in good time. 

Now with all this training going on, and all the mistakes being made, you might think that there was an air of despondency, but on the other hand, not so. I think most people tend to make light of their problems and their accidents and so on. I had the very good fortune of joining X9  later on, whose First Lieutenant was Joe Brooks. Now Joe was Royal Navy, he was a professional sailor. He was a midshipman in Dorsetshire during the Bismarck action when she fired the final torpedoes into Bismarck  and then went in to pick up survivors, and Joe was involved in that. He sometimes got on the wrong side of the law but, as always, through humanitarian reasons. But I won't go into that now. 

Joe's pastime was sketching and painting and when somebody put up a black or did something stupid during the day, Joe would draw it, and put it on the notice-board in ward room. And it tended to do two things. It made light of things that could have been depressing. But it also served as a reminder to everybody else, that this is what you don't do. Now the RAF had this sort of thing, and they created this Pilot Officer Prune that you might have heard about. And if the RAF wanted to present anything being done wrong, it was always Pilot Officer Prune that was doing it. So Joe, without knowing it, was really preceding this great character, who's now a bit of a legend in RAF circles. And of course you find prunes everywhere, I suppose I was a bit of one myself. Joe, when he had got well on with his book and actually left the flotilla, some time later, he gave me the book, which was very kind of him, because really, it's a classic. I brought it down here and Sally May kindly had it copied and they've been laminated, and there are some of the cartoons around on this board, and some of them are in the slides, in fact they're coming up now. They're all very topical, you may not understand them all, I'd be pleased to explain. But believe me they did serve a purpose and I think now, I treasure these things. So that brings me to the next lot of slides.

In the early training, we always had a small motor boat following X3 or X4.  And I was on duty on the boat this day, and I was a keen photographer, and I had an arrangement with the captain of the flotilla, that's Captain W.E. Banks, Submarine 12, that if I took films of secret objects, I would hand them in and then lock them in the ship's safe and they'd stay there until it was safe to let me have it. So when we changed flotillas I got the films and locked them in the other safe, so that's why it is I have these pictures of everything which is highly secret.

This is X3., here is a periscope. You might say "That's a very nice periscope depth." He's got everything exactly right except that here's the bow about to break surface, she's got her bow at an angle of about fifteen degrees, which is dreadful. in the background is a net, an anti-submarine net, which is what we practised on. Now that's the same submarine, seconds later. You see now she's done the awful thing, she's showing a couple of yards of periscope, because if you were in enemy waters, that would be the end of you. That's the diving suit we wore. This is Henty, Henty-Creer, who was captain of X5  in the Tirpitz. attack. And this is Muggins. That's Captain Lloyd Brown...Commander...Lieutenant Commander. He was Commander 'X', he was the Operations Commander. He was our program designer and his constant complaint we were always interfering with his program by causing submarines to break down all the time. Now that little drifter in the background is HMS Present Help, and she was our small mother ship.

Now Joe Brooks did this, and this is really a marvellous painting. I think Admiralty has the original, or maybe the Maritime Museum, I'm not sure. It's a very accurate picture of the submarine making a net penetration. There's a diver forward. I said to Joe, "You've made a mistake, you've left the hatch cover open," which you would never do, because when she goes through the net that's going to catch on the net. He said "Oh go away - you've got no artistic sense - it makes a better picture!" So there he is with the cutter, you get some idea of what the cutter is like. It's just got a trigger behind it, a big cylinder and a blade that comes down against an anvil, and it goes through a wire that big, as if it were made of butter.  This is the forward hatch, that's the one the diver left and re-entered through. There's an after hatch, which we only used in harbour under very calm conditions because it opened right above the main switch gear; because you wouldn't want any spray going down that. It shows very clearly the rudder; two rudders, and the hydroplanes, single screw. And I think that's jumping wire from the aft bull ring, up to the periscope guard. We had one aft, we didn't have one forward because they were pretty fair, forward. Also the jumping wire was there in case anybody fell over, hopefully he could get hold of it. 

That shows the side charges in place there, and these rigging screws on the top slip; they could be slipped from inside. There were two cradles down at keel level, and the side charge would fall over and disengage from the bottom cradles and lie on its back on the sea bed. They were a good design, except the best design for underwater is a sphere, next to that it's a cylinder. These were a crescent design, which is a very bad design, because it's weak. And while the submarine's diving depth is 300 feet, you couldn't go to 300 feet with those charges, they'd start to leak, and once they leak you get loll; you get water running from one end to the other. The submarine becomes almost unmanageable. So we had to try and keep to no more than one hundred feet with charges on. And when you're being towed by a submarine over which you have absolutely no control, and a six hundred foot long tow line, it's very hard to keep the submarine from plunging down and up again. I described this at some length in my book because the most frightening experience I've ever had is my very first tow. In fact, two submarines were lost on tow. More hazardous than the enemy. And that's the end of that series of slides. 

Now I mentioned Bonaventure.  Before the Tirpitz operation, a ship was commandeered from the Clan Line, because she had heavy derricks forward and aft, and could lift an X-craft out of the water, and put it on deck or down the hold. She could carry six submarines on deck and four down the after hold. That was very handy because the idea was Bonaventure would go to the nearest British or Allied Base and launch the submarines from there. I mentioned salvage, I've mentioned the hazards of tow. We were first trained in all duties, everybody was trained for every job, that's all officers; we were all trained to be Commanding Officer or First Lieutenant or diver, and the ERAs were trained in diving. The first idea was to have three crew only. But we found that diving is an activity requiring such skill to be maintained at all times, that once we'd finished our diving training; we never put enough time into diving and we had a few accidents. And so some of the human torpedo men, who were also in the 12th Submarine Flotilla, but I'm not talking about them in detail, were recruited into X-craft, and we got six of those in and they became our divers. So that made up the crew of four each. But once the crew were appointed, then the Commanding Officers concentrated on their job, the First Lieutenants on their job, the ERA on his job, and the diver concentrated on his job. My position at that time was spare CO, spare First Lieutenant or spare diver. I didn't have the skills to be an ERA. I hope there are some ERA's here, because my shipmate was Vernon Coles, and he was always telling me that the whole Navy was run, of course, from the Engine Room and by the ERAs. 

I was advised to make a bit of a point, which I hardly need to make to submariners, of the high spirits, of the high attitude of endeavour which just sort of grew, and it's still there. Because next month I'm off to England again to have a reunion with my crew. And my son-in-law who read this said "Well that's worth mentioning, the fact that after fifty years you're doing that. And what have we got here today, we've got half the people from the other side of the world, who come for the very same reason; something we don't need to explain to the converted.

I've mentioned the delay. The delay was until September, 1943. So in September, 1943, Bonaventure went to Loch Cairnbawn, which is just south of Cape Wrath, which is a marvellous natural harbour. HMS Titania was there; two T-class and four S-class submarines came up. The six X-craft were there. Bonaventure hoisted them up on deck, put their side charges on them, and were all ready for off. And a bloke off the submarines, who was then Claude Barry, came up to wish us god speed. That's a picture of Joe doing one of his sketches. And that's probably one of his best. I'll just take minute to talk about this, if you don't mind, I'm probably going to run over time. This represents his Commanding Officer, who shall be nameless. This is the First Lieutenant doing his best to get depth - depth is ten feet. You will notice that the Commanding Officer has not raised his periscope fully, he's got another eighteen inches to go.  And all he's got to do is push the raise button and up it will go. But Joe didn't draw this, his bit of paper wasn't long enough but you've got to guess that the top of the periscope is just slightly under the sea level, and he can't see. And he's saying, "What's the depth Number 1?". Number One says "Nine and a half feet." "Well keep nine feet, damn you!" And you can see Joe making a very irreverent sign with his left hand.. And that's, I suppose you might say, 'The First Lieutenant Strikes Back'. 

This is Brian McFarlane who I'll mention later on, he was one of the Australians. And Jack Marsden, his First Lieutenant, depicted here, was another Australian. They were both from Melbourne. We had Commander Bell, who many people know about - no - Ingram, Commander Ingram. He was Captain of Clyde I think; pretty famous name in submarines. He was our training officer at one stage and he was taking passage in the towing submarine, which I think was a T Boat at this stage, it was one of the early tows. And we were to find out at our cost that you could tow these things quite well and surface up to six knots. If you got any faster they'd exceed their hull speed and then they'd just go down. They dive, they submerge, because the static hydraulics don't apply any more, you're into dynamics now which you would have to learn. Well, the towing submarine was increasing speed and suddenly, X8  it would have been, went down. So Jack Marsden called up on the telephone, and said to Commander Ingram, "Would you slow down, we've dived, and Mac, MacFarlane, is on the casing!" And Ingram said "Well, he shouldn't be." But they did slow down, and when X8  came up to the surface again, of course they leapt out onto the casing. And they found that his foot had caught in the periscope guard, and his jacket had gone up over his head. And he hadn't drowned. So that was very fortuitous.

Now this is rather sad. This happened aboard X9. And I was on X9  at the time. I say on, not in, because I was on the casing, we were doing turning trials. Terry Martin was the skipper then. He had done one turning trial and it aborted, and he wanted to stop; we were doing it on an engine. So he called down 'Stop. Ready astern. Full astern". Now, in those days, there wasn't an interlock between the engine clutch and the reverse switch. So what Joe did, not thinking and doing exactly what he was told on the bridge; he stopped the engine and went astern. And of course the motor drove the propeller astern but it drove the engine astern as well. Of course it sucked in a cylinder full of seawater and tried to compress it. And the result is it wrecks the engine in half a revolution. Conrods come out through the side of the crank case; it's a shocking way to treat a Gardner 4LK. The caption there is 'In engine clutch. Full ahead. Stop. Full astern. Result. New Engine QED.' Now for those geometry students you'll know that means 'Quad Erep Demonstrandum', which means 'which was to be proved', but known by most schoolboys as 'quite easily done'. 

A similar one. We had dog clutches between the engine and motor, and motor and propeller, and even ladies know that in a motor car you've got, not a rod clutch, you've got a disc clutch. And you can slip the clutch and nothing awful happens. But with a dog clutch, you've got to stop both sides and then get the clutch meshing in the side again. Well this is Bill Whittam, who you'll hear about later on. He tried to put the tail clutch in while running a standing charge and the motor is going round, the propeller isn't, so it makes a dickens of a racket. And I happened to be aft at the time. Now Joe Brooks has always taken the mickey out of me for talking strine, or talking an Australian version of English. And he had a bubble up there -  he cut out his drawings and put them in another book later on and the bubble got cut off; what I'm saying is "Oy by crikey". Because when you're back aft and that sort of noise comes up, you can't miss it.

 Now, this is a bit of a dig at the depot ship, there's always, as we know, a bit of competition between the submarine crew and the depot staff. The submarine crew reckon the other half are loafers and vice-versa. Here we've got an alteration and addition to install a new light. Now here's the Lieutenant Commander Electrical Officer, with his EA and the whole entourage, and the ship's dog coming down to install one light. Now you can see the light's been put in, in a very seaman like manner, everything's fine except it doesn't work. It's on and the light's not working. Next one, "What about this light, Number one?". Here's Joe Brooks coming down in the jacket and hands in pockets and seaboots. And there's the result. The light's now working. But it's not quite, such a big job. 

Now, I don't know whether you know 'Mopsy' Myers, you're probably all too young. He is another famous submarine commander, and he was the Commander of HMS Varbel.  Short man, Bill Whittam, on the other hand, was six foot five. And you can see who's who there. And Mopsy is saying "Take your feet off my hotel walls you bloody X-craft hand!" So that's the end of that lot. I'll go one more - This is Bonaventure in Loch Cairnbawn, with the six X-craft on board, charges on, ready to go for Tirpitz.  There's Titania, with the six submarines alongside, you can see what they've been doing, they've been fuelling. No Environmental Protection Authority; you pump fuel in until it comes out the bottom end and you know the tanks are full. And what you don't use goes out to sea. But there they are. And over in the background is Alecto, a diving ship. I think next day, we were off. 

This picture's got particular poignancy, if that's the word, it's a poignant picture, in view of what I'll say later on. That's X7 alongside, something, I'm not too sure what it was, it must have been an ML. And this is just before sailing for Tirpitz.  On deck is Peter Phillip, South African Naval Force Lieutenant, I'll talk a bit more about him later on. And here is Bill Whittam, his face is slightly behind somebody else's cap. And here is Godfrey Place, who as you all know, was awarded a VC for his marvellous attack on Tirpitz, who unfortunately left us but months ago. I'll be talking about those people a little later on. That's the end of that series, I think I've caught up with my text now.

So it was the first time I'd met Flag Officer Submarines, when Claude Barry came up to wave us goodbye. It was quite a thrill meeting him and obviously there was great excitement everywhere, and everybody was very buoyant. And of course we were all full of doubts and misgivings, but nobody was going to go back, and on we went. The six submarines towing six X-craft were routed about ten miles apart. Security was absolute, so much so that every submarine had its own set of recoding tables, which I suppose is good for security. But as time went on we agreed, between ourselves anyway, that it probably wasn't such a good idea because you'd pick up a signal made from another submarine and we couldn't read it, we couldn't decode it. All we could do was count the groups and think what it might be. If things were going on somewhere else, going wrong, you'd want to know about it, but we didn't know about it. In fact, the first one to run into serious trouble was our own.

 I had a 'pierhead' jump into X9, at the last minute the diver in X9  couldn't face it, so he went out, and I went in. So I found myself with Terry Martin, Joe Brooks and Vernon Coles. After the Tirpitz  operation Terry Martin left, but the three of us stayed together most of the way through the life of the 12th and 14th submarine flotillas. So off we went. It was on the fourth day I think, we left on the eleventh, on the sixteen; the X-craft would tow along, dived, all day, except they'd surface to ventilate every six hours, and at night they'd come up and run for an hour or two, charging batteries and charging high pressure air. 

At the first surfacing time in the morning, X9 had gone, tow had parted and while we turned around to retrace our steps, we didn't find her, she must have gone down with all hands. The second tragedy was X8, she had leaking side charges and had to jettison them, and although they were set to safe, after a while they did explode and damaged X8.  So Brian MacFarlane and Jack Marsden came aboard the towing submarine with their ERA and diver, and they were passengers like we were. The other four did arrive at the towing position on time. Another Australian, or two Australians I should mention are Ken Hudspeth driving X10, and Henty-Creer driving X5.  The only one I haven't mentioned is X6 and that was Don Cameron. They all made their approach to Tirpitz, which was eighteen miles long. X10 had a lot of defects; the main motor caught fire once, periscope was flooded, so Ken withdrew, not knowing that two X-craft had already been lost, because we couldn't read each other's signals. So the other three forged on. We know that Godfrey Place made a very determined attack and was still caught in the nets making his way out, the anti-torpedo nets that is, when his charges went off and damaged the submarine. He surfaced, was engaged by gunfire from Tirpitz, and sunk. He and his diver got out and Bill Whittam, his First Lieutenant and his ERA Whiteley, were drowned. 

Don Cameron also had a flooded periscope. he went in on the surface, was seen by Tirpitz  but he was too close, rather like our description yesterday, the submarine was too close to the shore battery. He was too close to Tirpitz,  they couldn't shoot him. So he went underneath, made his charges, surfaced alongside, scuttled his submarine and was taken prisoner. X5, we don't know in detail, but she broke surface 700 metres from Tirpitz, and was sunk by secondary armament from Tirpitz.  We don't know any more about her. So from that operation, of the twelve crews, eight came back, and none of the submarines came back. But it was a successful operation and Tirpitz was badly damaged and took about six months to repair. Then she was taken down to Tromsö where the RAF turned her upside down.

In the meantime, six war submarines had been built, X20 to X25. I was given command of X22.  We were given various jobs, all of which were successful, except that the Admiralty were worried that the Germans might retaliate and attack the home fleet in Scapa Flow. So they sent Brian MacFarlane and Jack Marsden and X22 to tow up to Pentland Firth and to make a dummy run on Scapa. Well unfortunately, they got to Pentland Firth in a gale and in the confusion the towing submarine Syrtis  rammed X22, and they're still there. So that was-of our five Australians; three of them were lost at that stage. The one that joined later, he's still with us, as is Ken Hudspeth, I'm pleased to say.

The other jobs that were given to us: I went to Bergen to sink a dock, in fact, I sank a coal ship instead, came back. Pat Westmacott went across and sank the dock. Meantime, Ken Hudspeth went across to the Normandy Beaches with a COP party and launched them. They went ashore, did some essential reconnaissance prior to D-Day, came back, and then he and George Honour went across before D-Day. They set up a homing station each and of the British landing beach, so that when our landing fleet came in the landed in the right spot first time. That went wrong. That's all the jobs we had, because soon after that all the Atlantic ports were in Allied hands and there were no longer any targets for us.

Meantime the XE  were being built, a little bit longer, with air-conditioning. The armament was changed from bottom mines to limpets. We carried the same sort of charges, but there were six limpets on each one. And they were placed on the bottom of the target ship. And they fitted in with three antennae, which could be raised from the casing, so the submarine could be brought up underneath the ship and leave room for the diver to get out, open the hatch and place these limpets. When we got out to the Pacific; we left in January, 1945, from the Clyde; we found the first thing - that we weren't wanted, because the war was well advanced by then. But 'Tiny' Fell, who was Captain SM14, and that was Bonaventure on the sixth craft, wasn't easily put off, and he went and sold himself around the halls of decision making. Finally he was asked, "Can your submarines locate and cut submarine telegraph cables?" He said, "Yes, of course we can." So he flew back to Brisbane, where we were, and he called a conference of COs and said, "You people have got to learn quick smart how to find and cut submarine telegraph cables." 

He brought back with him an engineer from Cable & Wireless Limited, and he gave us all the details we needed about cables and, I've got to cut it short, the fact is we did develop the technique. By the time we were ready to go and do it, they wanted one lot cut at Saigon. And these would be the cables from Singapore, Saigon, Hong Kong, and another lot cut at Hong Kong, which were the cables from Saigon, Hong Kong, to Japan. Westmacott was to go to Hong Kong; I was to go to Saigon. Then the American authorities said, "There's Group 2 cruisers in Johore Strait, Takao and Myoko. We want them sunk." So Ian Fraser and Jack Smart were sent there. So off we went, did those jobs and came back, except that Jack Smart couldn't reach his cruiser, that was Myoko,  because she was further up Johore Strait. So as soon as we got back they said, "Right, Fraser and Shean, back, get Myoko."  So we were all ready to sail, the night before.....End of No. 8 . Side B.

Beginning No.9. Side A

.....there were buzzes of the Japanese surrender. So the operation was put on hold and a  few days later the Japanese did surrender. So that was the end of that. I don't think I've got time, I was going to tell you a bit about cable cutting but I'll leave that out. If you want to know about it, I'll give you a copy of my paper, or you can read the book, so there it is. It was very unusual, in that there's no explosion at the end of it; it was a completely different thing, which shows how versatile these submarines are. But I'd just like to draw some comparisons between the British submarine and the Japanese submarine. First of all I'll quote from a United States writer, a chap called Burlinghame. He wrote a book called "Advance Force Pearl Harbour" and he made a statement which I'd like to quote because I don't like patting myself on the back, but he does give the British flotilla a little bit of a rough up when he says that: he'd made a study of small submarines of all nations. There were German, Italian, Japanese and British: "The British and Italians...carefully winnowed their crews into an 
elite cadre of motivated volunteers, hardening them with realistic drill...The only notable midget submarine successes of WWII were as a result of these skills." I don't think he was wrong, because I think our training was thorough. I'd just like to draw a few comparisons between the British and the Japanese design. Because when you mention small submarines most people think of Japanese, they don't think of British. I think there are quite a few advantages of the Royal Navy design. 

•
One is the hull design was for moderate speed and maximum capacity. You could fit what you wanted into it and you had complete access throughout the submarine. So you could carry out self-refit at sea, which we often did, if something went wrong we could fix it. Whereas the Japanese ones were built for speed, they had a high speed of more than 20 knots. They were long and slender. But in somebody else's harbour, you don't want to go at high speed, you'd give yourself away.

•
We had bottom mines and limpets, they had torpedoes, once again, in an enemy harbour, the firing of torpedoes gives your presence away immediately. And as you heard today, or yesterday, a torpedo is not always a precision weapon whereas a limpet is, and a bottom mine should be. I made a very precise attack on the wrong target. But never mind, we got the right target next time. It wasn't so wrong, it was a German collier and quite a big one too.

•
The third comparison is that the W & D, that's the wet and dry compartment, was a novel and very successful facility for a submarine to have. You can see why, they were designed for cutting through a net, for placing limpets, and then they were used for cutting cables. Nobody thought about that when they were designed, but it shows how versatile these things really were.

•
For the provision of a diesel engine, they were good range and reliability. Now the Japanese didn't have the diesel, and the German Bibers had petrol, as you heard yesterday, petrol is bad news in a submarine. As I've told you, the diesels were absolutely reliable. 

•
The Japanese method of outward bound transport was pick-a-back on a big submarine. Now that is a plus, in my opinion, because towing is hazardous. But, how do you make a return journey; landing an X-craft onto the after casing of a submarine at sea I think would be impractical. So I think this was a Japanese philosophy, they were a one way thing. Maybe they'd bring the crews back, but they wouldn't bring the submarine back. This wasn't the British philosophy. We were made to go two ways; go there, come back, go again, come back again. In fact quite a few crews made three trips.

•
As I mentioned the X-craft did provide access throughout the boat, so we could carry out whatever we had to do, within our ability at sea. In fact Vernon Coles tells me; I'll be seeing him in a couple of weeks, he's my ERA and he tells me that if my periscope had flooded, he knows what I'd do, I'd say "Coles, we've got to go away and hide up somewhere - you fix this periscope." And he said he'd have done it, because I told him to. I think it's probably something in the attitude; not to be beaten by these small defects.

I've spoken mostly about the technical aspects, I should put in a couple of human interest stories, and one is slightly sad. I showed you a picture of X7 and Bill Whittam, talking, from the ship, to Peter Phillip. In fact both these stories are about X7.  Bill, as soon as we recruited to Varbel in September 1942, met a rather beautiful WRN officer, Ruth Barham. They loved each other ever after, until a year later when Bill went down with X7.  Captain Banks was always a very humane man, as I found all Captains  Submarine are, in fact all our senior officers were. He could see that to keep Ruth in the flotilla, with her Bill drowned in north Norway, wasn't kind. So he sent her to Northways and she became part of Flag Officer Submarines Staff. I didn't hear from her again until two years ago, when there was a memorial that we'd all subscribed to being unveiled up near Loch Cairnbawn at Kylesku. I wrote to say I was coming and somebody sent me a copy of the Northern Times, which is the North of Scotland newspaper, and I saw that Ruth Skinner was going. So the outcome of this is, it's Ruth Barham. She'd married John Skinner, a Royal Navy Lieutenant; a great sailor and fighter, he was sunk three times, and they'd raised a family of five. They'd since separated, they're still good friends, and she's still in love with Bill Whittam.

The other story, also concerns X7.  Peter Phillip, I've mentioned, was a South African, he had polio as a boy and limped his way into the navy; he limped his way into submarines. I suppose on the long tow north, he'd been standing, unevenly, in a pair of special seaboots. He bought himself a pair of fleece lined leather seaboots, they really were high class, probably G's, I don't know. His Operational CO, Godfrey Place, wasn't quite as particular about his clothes. When they changed crews off Alten Fjord, they did it by rubber dinghy, Godfrey came down last, he got on the casing, Peter handed over to him. He was about to get into the dinghy when Godfrey says "Oh, by the way Peter, would you lend me your seaboots?"  So Peter took off his seaboots, and jumped in the dinghy in his submarine socks and we went back to the submarine.  Stubborn, it was I think, got off on a tow and immediately sighted a floating mine ahead, and she skirted around this mine and drifted back to the tow, dragged back and finally pranged against the side of X7. Godfrey Place came up, sat on the casing, and kicked the mine away.  He yelled out to Stubborn "That's the first time I've kicked a mine away by the horns!"  Peter Phillip, telling us the story, said "Yes, and he was wearing my sea-boots."

Well, just a couple more slides. This is another of Digger MacFarlane, when they were out doing some trials with Admiralty scientists and they had some very precise instruments on board. They were approaching Bonaventure doing a dummy attack, still at periscope depth, when Jack lost his trim. It was just what they wanted for a while, and Brian MacFarlane was saying "Get her up Jack, we must be somewhere near Bonaventure!"  You can see what happened. The submarine didn't really buckle up like that, but all the instruments fell on the deck and smashed.

This is Willy Britnell. He was my passage CO, and this is one of Joe's drawings showing what it was like passing the auxiliary tow in a rubber dinghy.  That is the Australian War Memorial Japanese Submarine. You can see that they are very long and slender; just looks the part; if you didn't know any better you would say that's a far superior design to that, which is short and stubby. But give me that any time. Direction is more important than speed, and stealth is more important, and that is a very stealthy submarine and it can go and come back. That's loading at Brunei Bay, ready to go off to cut the cables at Saigon. And the last picture - that is Ruth Barham and I'll be seeing her in a couple of weeks, she's having us down at Jersey. There was a popular song in my youth called "The Lass That Loved The Sailor". There she is. Wearing Bill's medals. Thank you.

Chair: Thank you very much Max, for that. Ladies and Gentlemen, just before we let Max off the hook completely, are there any questions that you would like to ask of Max. I would suggest that we do keep the questions brief. He's done a tremendous job of extending, and coming in with those extra stories, to help me out of my predicament this afternoon, and I'm really appreciative of that. 

QUESTIONS FROM THE FLOOR

Chair: Yes sir:

•

Can I just say thank you to Max for the  ....INAUDIBLE ... for what has been a quite fascinating hour , for me to come and listen... I've heard lost of x-craft stories over the years, but that really was fascinating, and I thank you from all of us.  I've got two things to ask you. I saw  Godfrey Place about two months before he sadly died. And he was his usual cantankerous self. I went to his, for those of you who don't know, Godfrey Place - he had, having been made a prisoner of war, having been captured, he then sadly got to the stage where he was made a prisoner of war and eventually got back to UK at the end of the war, and went down to Blockhurst to rejoin the submarine flotilla, to be told that, "Sorry sunshine, you're out of date." A quite extraordinary situation really, at that stage. So he went and joined the fleet air arm. So it was this strange thing to see, at his funeral service, to fine both Flag Officer Naval Aviation and Flag Officer Submarines there. The thing that I liked; the officer who gave the address, I think it was Admiral Middleton, at the end of his address said, "There's only one thing I'd like to say at the end which really sums up Godfrey, and it was extremely kind of him to arrange his funeral service on a bank holiday." 


The other thing I'd like to add really was that George Honour, who you heard had been involved in D-Day; George Honour was the officer we managed to get involved in all the D-Day celebrations last year and indeed represented the Submarine Old Comrades Association, at the main dinner with the Queen in Portsmouth Guild Hall. Subsequently you'll be pleased to hear I took him to see in HMS Ursula, and he was actually on the bridge during the fleet review, when Britannia went by.

Chair: Thank you very much sir. Yes, sir:

•
Nobody mentioned about Godfrey Place - he became a champion glider, in the UK.

There's a question from a gentleman at the back of the hall.

•
I was on Stubborn when we towed Freddy Place over. We brought back Hughie Cameron. We picked him up about three days after the Tirpitz. We used to have a light that - only person that could see it - he had one. And we picked him up and brought him back. Is there any record  of that - the Captain of the submarine was A A Delph? 

Max Shean:
INAUDIBLE...Was it X10 you brought back?

•
No, we tried to bring her back, with Hughie Cameron..

Max Shean:
Well, X10 was the only one that was towed half way back...

•
We picked her up and towed her back; I didn't know what number she was, but we had to ditch her through rough weather.

Max Shean:...INAUDIBLE.....

•
This is going to the Tirpitz, we took over Hughie Cameron. And we brought back Freddy Place, and we picked him up, I can remember as if it was yesterday because used to be  the one that used to go back on the rubber dinghy to relieve them.

Chair: Thank you very much for that memory sir.

•
Yes, I would like to confirm that the intelligence on the Norwegian coast was very good, because at that time you had submarines lying around waiting for the Tirpitz to come out. And we had to do three weeks there, nothing else, just wait for the Tirpitz. And sometimes you got a signal "move over", because you've been spotted. Thanks.

Chair: Ladies and Gentlemen, you can see now why a well known Australian firm took Max's title in their advertising; 'The Quiet Achiever'. I think we've all thoroughly enjoyed the talk, on behalf of us all, Max, thank you very, very much for the interest, and explaining to us what life was like in those very, very small X-craft. Ladies and Gentlemen, Max Shean, DSO MBAR.
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